IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

GUS WILKINS, JR.

APPELLANT

V.

MAY 2 9 2008

DEFICE OF THE CLERK COURT OF ARREST

NO. 2007-KA-1643-SCT

APPELLEE

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS W. Daniel Hinchcliff, MS Bar No. 301 North Lamar Street, Suite 210 Jackson, Mississippi 39201 Telephone: 601-576-4200

Counsel for Gus Wilkins, Jr.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

GUS WILKINS, JR.

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2007-KA-1643-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE NO 1: WHETHER THE TRAIL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGEMENT NOT WITHSTANDING THE VERDICT?

<u>ISSUE NO. 2:</u> WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit court of Lowndes County, Mississippi, and a judgement of conviction of sexual battery against Gus Wilkins, Jr. with a resulting sentence of twenty years and an additional five years post release supervision, following a jury trial commenced on September 4, 2007, Honorable Lee J. Howard, presiding. Gus Wilkins, Jr. is presently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

FACTS

The opening statement of Appellant Gus Wilkins, Jr., ["Wilkins"], informed the jury of the only disputed fact, the matter of whether or not the sexual encounter between the victim "Jane Doe" and Wilkins was consensual or not.

The testimony began with Jane Doe. She testified that she was sixteen in July of 2006 when she first met Wilkins, who was introduced to her as a cousin. Curiously, she was unable to identify him in the courtroom. (T. 95)

On the date in question, Jane was at Sims Scott Park. She sent a text message to a family member, Demetrius Palmer, to come to the park and pick her up, but when he hadn't arrived after an hour she began to walk home. (T. 97) Wilkins came up to her as she walked and introduced her to two of his friends. He volunteered to walk with her to the apartment where Demetrius was. Wilkin's mother lived in the same complex.

As they neared the apartments, Jane claimed Wilkins grabbed neck and told her that if she made a sound he would snap it. (T. 99) They then went to an abandoned house a block away. Her testimony was called into question, as it required that she walk within twenty feet of the apartment where she had friends and family without crying out or running, and that she claimed to be held by the neck, for a distance of at least one city block, on a warm July evening, without anyone being aware of her abduction. (T. 116-118) She did not try to run or scream because he was bigger than her, (T. 101) despite the fact that at that point she did not know Wilkin's intentions. For all she knew, if her testimony were true, he may have intended to kill her. She claimed the route to the abandoned house from the apartments was a straight shot, but this was demonstrated to be incorrect. (T. 100, 115-117)

¹ The pseudonym "Jane Doe" will be used to protect the identity of the purported victim.

When they reached the abandoned house, she claimed Wilkins took off her pants and lifted her shirt and laid her down amid broken glass (apparently without resistance or even protest). (T. 101) However, she incurred not one single cut. (T. 121) When Jane went to the hospital later that night, the examining nurse found no signs of trauma on her body, not a drop of blood. (T. 141) Nor did the police find evidence to support of her having lain in a bed of glass. (T. 182) There were no marks on her body, not a scratch.

Jane Doe claimed the sequence of events were as follows; that Wilkins first licked her body, next was oral engagement culminating in intercourse. This was different from the sequence given at the hospital. (T. 102,147, 181)

Incredibly, she claimed that after the occurrence, Wilkins gave her the discarded pants and then walked her home, to the apartment in which her two brothers and boyfriend could be found. She did not relate what happened to a group of men, relatives and friends, who could have immediately apprehended her alleged assailant. Instead she then asked Demetrius Palmer to take her home and then told him about the occurrence with Wilkins. (T. 103-104) She bathed and threw out her clothes.

During cross examination she denied having told Investigator Louis Alexander that Wilkins told her he loved her. (T. 112) Investigator Alexander flatly contradicted this assertion. (T. 180) She did tell him that. She refused to make a written statement about the claimed assault to the investigating officer. (T. 126) She claimed she refused because he treated her like she was the criminal. She claimed to have told Wilkins' mother about the event that night, but the mother said Jane told her about sex occurring in the park, not at the abandoned house. (T. 124, 207)

Demetrius Palmer, testified that he received the text to pick up Jane and he was going to pick her up after picking up some take out Chinese food.. She then texted him she would meet him at the apartment. (T. 132) Nowhere in her testimony did she mention that Demetrius got back to her and told her he would be late. She had claimed that after she had waited an hour she began walking. By her own testimony, this leaves an hour or so window, of Jane in the park, after dark and knowing her ride would not be coming anytime soon.

When Jane finally showed up at the apartment, Demetrius felt she was not acting like herself. (T. 134) She eventually told him she was raped. Yet he didn't gather up her other brother and friends that were present and go after Wilkins. Furthermore, when the police came to him, he would not make a statement to the police.(T. 136)

Amy Riley, a nurse at the emergency room, noted that Jane came in around 12:20.(T.138) She appeared healthy, anxious and nervous. (T. 139) She said nothing about distraught or angry. She did a rape kit, and noted that there was no trauma. No tearing or bruising. (Such as one might expect with forced intercourse.) White fluid, later stipulated to be Wilkins semen, was retrieved from her vaginal vault.(T. 142)

Several days after the event, Gary Moore of the Columbus Police Department, got a statement from Jane. He arrested Wilkins who consented to a DNA blood test. (T. 163-164)

After the State rested, Wilkins, through his counsel, moved for a directed verdict, arguing that Jane had never expressed any protestation to intercourse, that her testimony was not credible. The motion was over-ruled. (T. 175-176)

Wilkins defense established the following facts. The initial investigator did not request a sexual assault kit while at the hospital. He taped the victim's statement, which it was earlier admitted is a not common occurrence, a technique sometimes used to uncover evidence on behalf of the defendant. (T. 165-167) The defendant was not taped, something that investigators try to do. These facts all attest to the skepticism of the police. Demetrius would not give him a statement

concerning his sister's claim of a sexual assault. A neighbor testified that you would expect to have people outdoors at the time of the alleged assault, the warm July evening. (T. 193-194) The State had not produced one witness who saw Wilkins and Jane walking down the streets together. Wilkins' mother was the last witness for the defense. Jane Doe, her head down, told her it happened in the park, not an abandoned house. She didn't appear upset. (T. 206-207)

The defense rested and the State finally rested. (T. 210)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

As a matter of law, the uncorroborated and un-impeached testimony of a single witness can support a conviction of sexual assault. Conversely, unsubstantiated testimony that is improbable and replete with impeachment, as a matter of law is not sufficient to sustain a juries verdict.

The weight of the evidence supported the fact of consensual sexual intercourse, by monumental proportion.

ARGUMENT

<u>ISSUE NO. 1:</u> WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL?

Wilkins' motion for acquittal notwithstanding the verdict testing the sufficiency of the evidence supporting the verdict was denied perfunctorily. Perhaps the evidence should have been examined more critically. In this case the evidence, all the evidence, not just the evidence supporting the State's case, even when examined in the light most favorable to the State, is not sufficient to support the verdict. *Lee v. State*, 469 So. 2d 1225, 1229-1230 (Miss. 1985) The issue of contention was whether or not the sexual acts between Jane Doe and the Appellant, Gus Wilkins, Jr., was consensual. While Jane Doe complained that the sex was not, her testimony was substantially impeached, her actions not consistent with the victim of a sexual assault, and when viewed as a whole, simply incredible. "Our case law clearly holds that the unsupported word of the victim of a

sex crime is sufficient to support a guilty verdict where that testimony is not discredited or contradicted by other credible evidence, especially if the conduct of the victim is consistent with the conduct of one who has been victimized. The victim's physical and mental condition after the incident, as well as the fact that the incident was immediately reported is recognized as corroborating evidence." *Klauk v. State*, 940 So.2d 954, 957 (Miss. App. 2006)

We begin, as set forth in the above related facts, that she could not identify Wilkins in court. This was a man she supposedly had been introduced to as a cousin, and walked together with for some distance, prior to the sexual encounter. When she requested a ride home, she claimed to have waited an hour, but her brother/cousin Demetrious Palmer testified he informed her he was out getting food. Why wait? These two facts, when combined suggest a casual encounter in the park, as she told Wilkins' mother, not an abduction followed by an assault.

Jane claimed Wilkins introduced her to two of his friends. This would make no sense, if Wilkins planned to force himself upon Jane. Jane made no effort to break away or call for help as she was walked within 20 feet of sure rescue. If Jane's account was true, it was an unusual July evening, as no one was sitting out or standing on a corner.

Jane claimed the violation occurred upon a bed of broken glass, but she did not receive even a tiny scratch. Despite a claim of forceful unwanted intercourse, there was no injury noted by the examining nurse. While no doubt she had sexual intercourse with Wilkins, neither her actions after the event, nor Wilkins are consistent with an assault. He walked her to the apartment where her boyfriend and two brothers awaited. She did not immediately relate the incident.

Her testimony was directly contradicted by Investigator Alexander. She denied telling him Wilkins told her he loved her. She refused to give him a written statement. She was further impeached by Wilkins' mother. While claiming to have informed the mother of the act, the mother

testified Jane told her about a sexual encounter that occurred at the park, rather than upon the glass strewn abandoned house. A house no police officer ever bothered to enter for the purpose of gathering evidence. The police indicated their skepticism of Jane's version of the events in several ways: the delay in requesting a sexual assault kit be done, taping Jane's statement, not the defendant. All this points to a mutual encounter in the park, not an assault.

The State's version is improbable and impeached. Accordingly, it should not be accepted.

Should the facts and inferences considered in a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence "point in favor of the defendant on any element of the offense with sufficient force that reasonable men could not have found beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was guilty," the proper remedy is for the appellate court to reverse and render. *Bush*, 895 So.2d at 843 (quoting *Edwards v. State*, 469 So.2d 68, 70 (Miss.1985)).

Miley v. State, 935 So.2d 998, 1001 (Miss. 2006) The element of Jane's consent is simply much more probable than her lack thereof. To allow this conviction to stand would "sanction an unconscionable injustice." *Groseclose v. State*, 440 So. 2d 297, 300 (Miss. 1983)

<u>ISSUE NO. 2:</u> WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL?

Although, as set forth above, the element of lack of consent is lacking from the proofs and this cause should be reversed and rendered, the verdict is also against the weight of the evidence. In support thereof, the above argument and the facts are adopted herein. The weight of evidence supports consent.

A motion for a new trial falls within a lower standard of review than does that of a judgment notwithstanding the verdict or a directed verdict. A motion for a new trial simply challenges the weight of the evidence. "The Supreme Court will reverse the lower court's denial of a motion for a new trial only if, by doing so, the court abused its discretion." (Citation omitted). "We will not order a new trial unless convinced that the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that, to allow it to stand, would be to sanction an unconscionable injustice." Groseclose v. State, 440 So.2d 297, 300

(Miss.1983). Likewise, factual disputes are properly resolved by a jury and do not mandate a new trial. McNeal v. State, 617 So.2d 999, 1009 (Miss.1993).

Sheffield v. State, 749 So.2d 123, 127 (Miss.1999) Apparently, this jury decided to disregard the burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt, and err on the side of the purported victim, contrary to the very fundamental right of a criminal defendant to a fair trial. But as stated by this Court:

The question before us is not whether the defendants are in fact guilty or are probably guilty, but whether the State has made out beyond a reasonable doubt a case sufficient to withstand the weight of testimony consistent with innocence. The doubt that reasonable men engaged in a search for truth could safety accept and act upon the evidence to a moral certainty of guilty must be resolved in favor of the (Citations omitted) The law demands that we reverse when we are confronted with a case where no reasonable juror could have found the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. (Citations omitted) Because the prosecution's only eyewitness was far off base in his physical description, we regard today's such a case.

Ashford v. State, 583 So.2d 1279, 1282 (Miss. 1991) If an inaccurate identification rises to the level need to reverse, the facts of this case, including a total lack of recognition of the defendant in the courtroom, necessitates reversal.

CONCLUSION

Gus Wilkins, Jr. is entitled to have the judgement and sentence of the lower court reversed and rendered or in the alternative, have his conviction reversed and remanded for a new trial.