IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

GUS WILKINS, JR.

JUL 2 8 2008

Office of the Clerk
Supreme Gourt
Court of Appeals

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2007-KA-1643-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: BILLY L. GORE

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The defendant requested and received jury instruction D7 which instructed the jury the State "must prove," *inter alia*, beyond a reasonable doubt that

"(2) [t]he sexual penetration was without the consent of Marquita Brooks." (C.P. at 41)

The jury so found.

"[T]he [Supreme] [C]ourt is bound by the jury findings upon an issue presented by the instruction requested by appellant." **Kinney v. State**, 336 So.2d 493, 496 (Miss. 1976).

It is a fundamental principle of law that a jury verdict will not be disturbed except in the most extreme of situations. Young v. State, 962 So.2d 110 (Ct.App.Miss, 2007) citing Sheffield v. State, 749 So.2d 123, 128 (¶17) (Miss. 1999). The case at bar does not exist in this posture.

Accepting as true the testimony proffered by the State via the victim, together with all reasonable inferences to be drawn therefrom, it is clear there was sufficient testimony from the victim to convince a reasonable and fairminded juror the sexual acts committed by Wilkins were without her consent.

This is especially true where, as here, there is no testimony, not one whit, that sexual penetration was consensual. Lest we forget the defendant did not testify in this cause.

Wilkins told Detective Moore, post-arrest, he did not have sexual intercourse with Marquita Brooks. The physical evidence, on the other hand, demonstrated beyond a reasonable doubt that he did.

Nor was the verdict of the jury against the overwhelming weight of the evidence which fails to preponderate in favor of Wilkins. The jury was properly instructed it was "... the sole judges of the facts in this case [and its] exclusive province is to determine what weight and what credibility will be assigned the testimony and supporting evidence of each witness in this case." (C.P. at 30)

The testimony of Marquita Brooks implicating Wilkins in a non-consensual sexual encounter was not outweighed by any other evidence. As stated previously, Wilkins did not testify. Accordingly, there was no direct testimony or evidence suggesting consensual sex.

Marquita Brooks's credibility, of course, was a question for the jury.

In Crawford v. State, 754 So.2d 1211, 1222 (Miss. 2000), this Court stated:

"[O]ur case law clearly holds that the unsupported word of the victim of a sex crime is sufficient to support a guilty verdict where that testimony is not discredited or contradicted by other credible evidence, especially if the conduct of the victim is consistent with the conduct of one who has been victimized by a sex crime." [numerous citations omitted]

It wasn't, and it was. See also McDonald v. State, 816 So.2d 1032 (Ct.App.Miss. 2002).

Wilkins complains largely about testimonial inconsistencies, contradictions, and an allegedly faulty recollection of the victim. The same argument was made and rejected in **Collier v. State**, 711 So.2d 458, 462 (Miss. 1998), where we find the following:

"We are asked to reverse this case on the grounds that there are inconsistencies and contradictions in her testimony. If this be true, it would still be a question for the jury." *Blade*, 240 Miss. at 188, 126 So.2d at 280; *e.g. Allman*, 571 So.2d at 253. In the instant case, any inconsistencies found in C.H.'s testimony go [to] the weight and credibility of her testimony, clearly a jury question. In addition, C.H.'s testimony was not at all inconsistent on the issue at the heart of this matter - Collier's fondling of her. This contention is without merit.

It is well settled that "[t]he jury has the duty to determine the impeachment value of inconsistencies or contradictions as well as testimonial defects of perception, memory and sincerity."

Jones v. State, 381 So.2d 983, 989 (Miss. 1990). See also Blocker v. State, 809 So.2d 640, 644-45 (Miss. 2002); Hill v. State, 199 Miss. 254, 24 So.2d 737 (1946).

ARGUMENT

ACCEPTING AS TRUE THE TESTIMONY OF THE WITNESSES FOR THE STATE, INCLUDING THE VICTIM, TOGETHER WITH ALL REASONABLE INFERENCES TO BE DRAWN THEREFROM, THERE WAS EVIDENCE OF SUFFICIENT WEIGHT AND CHARACTER TO PROVE THE OFFENSE OF SEXUAL BATTERY BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT.

This is a case of sexual battery involving lingual and genital penetration.

Wilkins, who did not testify, suggests the sex was consensual.

"Lack of consent is an essential fact necessary to constitute the crime of sexual battery."

Peterson v. State, 671 So.2d 647, 655 (Miss. 1996), reh denied.

The victim's testimony and actions, and inferences drawn therefrom, if true and if believed, were sufficient to convince a reasonable and fairminded juror the acts were both forceful and unwanted, e.g., "[h]e made me put my mouth on his private part." (Testimony of victim at R. 102)

"[F]orce or violence are elements that a jury [can] consider in determining whether the victim [of an alleged sexual battery has] consented to the act." **Sanders v. State**, 586 So.2d 792, 796 (Miss. 1991).

Who other than the jury could resolve this pivotal issue?

Wilkins first complains that the testimony of Marquita Brooks was "substantially impeached" and, when viewed as a whole, "simply incredible." (Brief of the Appellant at 5) In this posture, says Wilkins, the evidence, even when viewed in a light most favorable to the State, was insufficient to sustain a conviction for aggravated assault.

Wilkins cites the correct standard of review but reaches the wrong conclusion.

Pointing to various inconsistencies such as whether or not Wilkins told Brooks he loved her

(Brief of the Appellant at 6), Wilkins claims the testimony and evidence was insufficient to support a guilty verdict because the victim's testimony was "substantially impeached." (Brief of the Appellant at 5)

Wilkins, we think, majors on the minors.

First, for whatever reason, Brooks did not see the man she knew as Gus Wilkins sitting in the courtroom at the time she testified. (R. 95) Perhaps Marquita's eyesight was poor. Maybe Wilkins had changed his appearance or turned his head or covered his face. We shall never know. Brooks had been introduced to Wilkins for the first time only the week before the incident (R. 94-95, 205-06), and the sexual activity took place late at night inside the darkness of an abandoned house. A reasonable and fairminded juror could have found that Brooks never got a good look at Wilkins. In addition, over a year separated the date of the offense in July of 2006 from the date of trial in September of 2007. In the meantime, Brooks had moved to Indiana. Given these facts and circumstances her inability to make a courtroom identification of Wilkins as her tormentor is not altogether surprising.

In any event, no matter.

Identity is a nonissue in this case. A DNA stipulation was proof beyond a reasonable doubt that Wilkins was the source of the semen found inside Brooks's vagina. (See state's exhibit 6)

Second, although Brooks never testified directly the sexual acts were forceful, unwanted, and committed without her consent, the facts and circumstances surrounding her encounter with Wilkins are sufficient to lead a reasonable and fairminded juror that the penetration of her mouth and private parts was neither consensual nor welcome.

Facts and circumstances leading a reasonable and fairminded juror to this conclusion are proffered as follows:

- (1) The difference in age and size of the defendant and his victim. Wilkins was 37 years old while Brooks was only 16. Wilkins was 6'1" tall and weighed 180 pounds while Brooks was 5' 2" and 137 pounds. Brooks testified she was scared and made no immediate outcry because Wilkins was a bigger person and had threatened to "snap her neck."
- (2) Marquita Brooks reported the incident to her cousin, Demetrius Palmer, immediately after she arrived at the apartment. A reasonable and fairminded juror could have concluded that if the acts had been consensual Marquita would have kept silent and forever held her peace.
- (3) Marquita immediately removed her clothing and bathed "[b]ecause [she] felt dirty." (R. 105)
 - (4) Marquita threw her clothing into the trash because she did not want it any more. (R. 105)
- (5) Marquita "wasn't her normal self" when she spoke with Demetrius Palmer immediately after the incident. (R. 133-34) While telling Palmer about the assault and identifying her tormentor, Brooks was crying, and Palmer could barely understand her. (R. 135) It was obvious to Palmer from the get-go something was wrong with Marquita Brooks. (R. 134)
- (6) Marquita shared with nurse Riley the sequence of events including the identity of Mr. Wilkins, her attacker, and his admonition to her that she keep quiet or he would "snap her neck." (R. 140) This was consistent with Marquita's testimony at trial.
- (7) According to Riley, Marquita "... was anxious and a little bit nervous to be there." (R. 139)
- (8) Of great evidentiary significance is the fact that Wilkins never claimed the sex was consensual. Rather, he claimed there was no sex at all.

Detective Moore testified that Wilkins told him during the booking process he did not have sexual intercourse with Marquita Brooks. This testimony would certainly convince a reasonable

and fairminded juror that any suggestion during trial the acts were consensual was grasping at the proverbial straw. Wilkins, in effect, was suggesting to the jury, "I didn't do it, but even if I did, it was with her consent."

- (9) Also significant is the absence of any direct testimony that Marquita consented to the acts. Wilkins, whose semen was found inside Marquita's vagina, did not testify.
- (10) While talking with Wilkins's mother after the incident Marquita kept her head down and "... never looked at me when she was talking." (R. 206) It was the equivalent of saying, "I trusted Gus because I trusted you. Shame on your son."
- (11) The absence of abrasions on Marquita's back resulting from broken glass on the floor of the abandoned house can be explained by the size of the pieces which, according to Marquita, were smaller than her fingernails. (R. 101)
- (12) A reasonable, fairminded juror could have accepted Marquita's explanation that she declined to give a statement to Detective Alexander because Alexander treated her like she was a criminal and implied that Wilkins had paid her money in exchange for sex. (R.126, 129-30)
- (13) Finally, Wilkins's heavy hand on Marquita's neck and his threat to essentially "snap, crackle, and pop" her neck if she made any noise was evidence of a lack of consent to unwanted intercourse. (R. 128-29)
 - Q. [BY PROSECUTOR ALLGOOD:] When that man put his hand around your neck and he told you if you said anything he would snap your neck, how did you feel?

* * * * *

A. [BY BROOKS:] I felt scared because he's way bigger than me.

Q. And when he did that, and you were walking down the street, what were you thinking? Tell the ladies and gentlemen of the

jury what you were thinking.

A. If I - - I was thinking if I did say anything or if I made any noises that he probably would snap my neck. And then no one would be able to find me. So, therefore, I didn't make any noises. (R. 128-29)

The victim's silence in the wake of the threat to "snap" her neck was quite probative with respect to finding a lack of consent. A reasonable and fairminded juror could have found Brooks, out of fear, would not have told Wilkins to stop the assault under these circumstances.

Our retort to Wilkins's claims that inconsistencies and contradictions are fatal to the verdict is found in **Collier v. State**, *supra*, 711 So.2d 458, 462 (Miss. 1998), where the same argument was made and rejected. That language is worth repeating here.

"We are asked to reverse this case on the grounds that there are inconsistencies and contradictions in her testimony. If this be true, it would still be a question for the jury." *Blade*, 240 Miss. at 188, 126 So.2d at 280; *e.g. Allman*, 571 So.2d at 253. In the instant case, any inconsistencies found in C.H.'s testimony go [to] the weight and credibility of her testimony, clearly a jury question. In addition, C.H.'s testimony was not at all inconsistent on the issue at the heart of this matter - Collier's fondling of her. This contention is without merit.

Lest we forget, "[t]he jury has the duty to determine the impeachment value of inconsistencies or contradictions as well as testimonial defects of perception, memory and sincerity."

Jones v. State, supra, 381 So.2d 983, 989 (Miss. 1990). See also Blocker v. State, supra, 809 So.2d 640, 644-45 (Miss. 2002); Hill v. State, supra, 199 Miss. 254, 24 So.2d 737 (1946), and Collier v. State, supra, 711 So.2d 458, 462-63 (Miss. 1998) [Any inconsistencies and contradictions found in testimony of child witness went to "... the weight and credibility of her testimony, clearly a jury question."].

In Ivy v. State, 949 So.2d 748, 753 (Miss. 2007), an appeal from convictions of fondling and

sexual battery, the Supreme Court penned the following language applicable to the case at bar:

Ivy argues there were inconsistencies between A.B.'s statements made to law enforcement officials and her testimony at trial. Ivy states that no exhibits were introduced at trial to prove his guilt. Ivy argues that there were inconsistencies regarding the time that the alleged conduct occurred. The jury heard testimony from A.B. and the defendant, Ivy, as to the allegations. The jury also heard from A.B.'s mother, C.D. The defense had the opportunity to cross-examine A.B. as to any discrepancies in her statements and testimony.

Despite any discrepancies in the witnesses' testimony, the jury was left with the responsibility to weigh the credibility of these witnesses' testimony at trial. As this Court has repeatedly held, the jury is the final arbiter of a witness's credibility. **Morgan v. State**, 681 So.2d 82, 93 (Miss. 1996); see also **Spicer v. State**, 921 So.2d 292, 312 (Miss. 2006). In **Spicer v. State**, 921 So.2d at 311 (quoting **Franklin v. State**, 676 So.2d 287, 288 (Miss. 1996), this Court stated:

Matters regarding the weight and credibility to be accorded the evidence are to be resolved by the jury. [This Court] may reverse only where, with respect to one or more of the elements of the offense charged, the evidence so considered is such that reasonable and fair-minded jurors could only find the accused not guilty.

Considering the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, there was sufficient evidence to convict Ivy of sexual battery and fondling. Accordingly, we find that the trial court did not err in denying Ivy's motion for J.N.O.V.

It's as simple as Ivy's "A.B.C.D.," *supra*. "Impeachment value" is a question for the jury and not for a trial judge called upon during trial to address the matter of legal evidentiary sufficiency.

Considering all the evidence in the light most favorable to the State's theory of the case, we respectfully submit there was sufficient evidence to support a conviction for sexual battery. **Bush** v. State, 895 So.2d 836, 843 (Miss. 2005);

Wilkins also contends "the verdict of the jury is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence." (Brief of the Appellant at 7-8)

The gist of his complaint, once again, is that "... the element of lack of consent is lacking from the proof..." (Brief of the Appellant at 7) According to Wilkins, "[t]he weight of evidence supports consent." (Brief of the Appellant at 7)

We think not. Had there been consensual intercourse Wilkins would have informed Detective Moore rather than denying intercourse with Brooks altogether.

Wilkins also states the following:

"If an inaccurate identification rises to the level needed to reverse, the facts of this case, including a total lack of recognition of the defendant in the courtroom, necessitates reversal." (Brief of the Appellant at 8)

We need not re-plow the ground already plowed. It is enough the jury heard the testimony from all of the State's witnesses, including the defendant's cross-examination of those witnesses. Wilkins exercised his right not to testify in this cause, and the jury was instructed it was to draw no adverse inference from this state of affairs. (C.P. at 40)

It has been said, however, the testimony by the State's witnesses may be given "full effect" by the jury where, as here, an accused does not take the witness stand. **Reeves v. State**, 159 Miss. 498, 132 So. 331 (1931). Stated differently, "[t]he prohibition against adverse comment and inference does not protect a criminal defendant from the probative force of the evidence against him." **Tuttle v. State**, 174 So.2d 345 (Miss. 1965).

This is especially true here where there is no testimony in the record the sexual acts were consensual.

In Rush v. State, 301 So.2d 297, 300 (Miss. 1974), we find these words applicable to this

observation.

While it is the right and privilege of a defendant to refrain from taking the witness stand, and no presumption is to be indulged against him for exercising that right, still the testimony of the witnesses against him may be given full effect by the jury, and the jury is likely to do so where it is undisputed and the defendant has refused to explain or deny the accusation against him. Reeves v. State, 159 Miss. 498, 132 So. 331 (1931). * * * * * *

See also Grant v. State, 762 So.2d 800, 804 (Ct.App.Ms. 2000) ["We note that Grant presented no evidence which leaves the jury free to give full effect to the testimony of the State's witnesses.

Benson v. State, 551 So.2d 188, 193 (Miss. 1989)."]

Our position on this issue can be summarized in only three (3) words: "classic jury issue." Was Brooks being truthful when she testified that Wilkins made her put her mouth on his private part? Reasonable and fairminded jurors who had the opportunity to observe the victim's demeanor and hear the tone and inflection of her voice could have found Wilkins guilty of sexual battery,

Of course, "[i]n any jury trial, the jury is the arbiter of the weight and credibility of a witness' testimony, [and] [t]his Court will not set aside a conviction without concluding that the evidence, taken in the most favorable light, could not have supported a reasonable juror's conclusion that the defendant was guilty beyond a reasonable doubt." Rainer v. State, 473 So.2d 172, 173 (Miss. 1985).

The law applicable to the disposition of this issue is stated in **Kelly v. State**, 910 So.2d 535, 540 (Miss. 2005), as follows:

We have routinely held that the jury is the judge of credibility. Schuck v. State, 865 So.2d 1111, 1124 (Miss. 2003); Harris v. State, 527 So.2d 647, 649 (Miss. 1988). This court will not set aside a guilty verdict, absent other error, unless it is clearly a result of prejudice, bias, fraud, or is manifestly against the weight of credible evidence. Drake v. State, 800 So.2d 508, 517 (Miss. 2001) (citing Maiben v. State,

405 So.2d 87, 88 (Miss. 1981). Further, it is within the sound discretion of the jury to accept or reject the testimony of a witness, and the jury "may give considerations to all inferences flowing from the testimony." *Mangum v. State*, 762 So.2d 337, 342 (Miss. 2000) (quoting *Grooms v. State*, 357 So.2d 292, 295 (Miss. 1978)).

"[T]he scope of review on this issue is limited in that all evidence must be construed, i.e., "weighed," in the light most favorable to the verdict." Herring v. State, 691 So.2d 948, 957 (Miss. 1997), citing Mitchell v. State, 572 So.2d 865, 867 (Miss. 1990). See also Bush v. State, supra, 895 So.2d 836, 844 (Miss. 2005), citing Herring v. State, supra.

Contrary to Wilkins's position, this is not a case where the evidence preponderates heavily against the verdict, or where allowing the verdict to stand would sanction or amount to an unconscionable injustice.

In Maiben v. State, 405 So.2d 87, 88 (Miss. 1981), this Court announced that

.... we will not set aside a guilty verdict, absent other error, unless it is clearly a result of prejudice, bias or fraud, or is manifestly against the weight of credible evidence. [emphasis supplied]

The following observations made in **Groseclose v. State**, 440 So.2d 297, 300 (Miss. 1983), are also worth repeating here:

We will not order a new trial unless convinced that the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that, to allow it to stand, would be to sanction an unconscionable injustice. Pearson v. State, 428 So.2d 1361, 1364 (Miss. 1983). Any less stringent rule would denigrate the constitutional power and responsibility of the jury in our criminal justice system. [emphasis supplied]

In short, this Court will not set aside a guilty verdict unless the verdict is manifestly against the weight of credible evidence [Maiben v. State, supra, 405 So.2d 87, 88 (Miss. 1981)] and unless this Court is convinced that to allow the verdict to stand, would be to

sanction an unconscionable injustice. Groseclose v. State, supra, 440 So.2d 297, 300 (Miss.

Contrary to Wilkins's position, the case at bar does not exist in this posture.

We respectfully submit, for the reasons stated, the evidence was sufficient to demonstrate a lack of consent to unwanted and forceful sexual intercourse. Nor was the verdict of the jury against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Accordingly, the trial court did not abuse its judicial discretion in overruling Wilkins's motion for a new trial.

CONCLUSION

Wilkins, who was well represented by competent and effective trial and appellate counsel, presents a legitimate complaint based largely upon weight and credibility. Both, of course, are jury issues.

Appellee respectfully submits that no reversible error took place during the trial of this cause. Accordingly, the judgment of conviction for sexual battery, together with the twenty (20) year sentence imposed in its wake, should be forthwith affirmed.